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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

ANDRE BOYER, CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff,
V.
THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, NO. 13-6495

COMMISSIONER CHARLESRAMSEY,
TWO JANE OR JOHN DOES,
CAPTAIN ROLLIN LEE,
LIEUTENANT KARYN BALDINI, and
OFFICER ANGEL ORTIZ,

Defendants.

DuBais, J. July 14, 2017

MEMORANDUM

I INTRODUCTION
Plaintiff, Andre Boyer, is an Africahmerican who was employed by tléty of

Philadelphiathe“City”) as a police officer from 1997 until his termination in September 2013.
In his Second Amended Complaint, he allegestti@City of Philadelphiaformer Police
Commissioner Charles Ramsey (“Ramsey”), CaptainifiRble (‘Lee”), and Lieutenariaryn
Baldini (“Baldini”), along with two Jane or John Does (collectively, the “City Defendants”)
violated his rights under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendmenmtporsua
42 U.S.C. § 1983, and thitte City, Ramsg, and Qficer Angel Ortiz(*Ortiz”) violated the
Pennsylvania Whistleblower Law, 42 Pa. Const. Stat. Ann. § &42dq Presently before the
Court are Defendants City of Philadelphia, Charles Ramsey, Roland Lee, gndBa&dini’s
Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendant Police Officer Angel Ortiz’'s Mation f

Summary Judgment. For the reasons set forth below, the City Defendants’ Motiomioag/
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Judgment is granted in part and denied in part, and Ortiz’'s Motion for Summary Judgment
granted.
. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The following relevant facts, submitted by the parties, are undisputed unlesgisgher
noted. Plaintiff's claims in this case stem from a series of events leading up to his termagation
a police officer with thé>hiladelphiagPolice DepartmentOn September 1, 2011, plaintiff and
Ortiz conducted a traffic stop while on patrol as police officers in Philadelgity Defs.’
Statement of Undisputed Material Facts (“Cit9F3) § 1. According to Ortiz, he receivedrbal
consent from the driver and vehicle owner, James Singleton, to search the aredhieleovered
what Ortiz suspected wa&®roin. Id. I 2. Plaintiff and Ortiz‘brought the suspected heroin and
Singleton’s vehicleto Officer Dierdre Cuffie at the NMeotics Field Unitheadquartersld. 4.

At some point in October 2011, during the prosecution of Singleton’s plas#;ff
spoke with Assistant Distri¢tttorney Allison Worysz, and told her that he believed Officers
Ortiz and Cuffiehad falsified the police report and other paperwork with respect to the Singleton
arrest. Id. 11 6-8.

On September 6, 2011, plaintiff and Ortiz conducted another traffic ktof).18.
During this stop, plaintiff confiscated money from an occupant of the vehicle, Wudhna@.
Id. § 19. According to Graham, the money was paraokcent settlement in a case arising from
a serious physical injury, argk showed the officers withdrawal receipt fronhmis bank during
the stop.Id.; City Defs.” Mem in Supp. Summ. J. (“City Defs.” MemBx. F (“Graham Police
Complaint) at 2-3. Graham was never charged with a crimeonnection with the traffic stop.

Graham Police Complaiatt 3. On September 26, 2011, Graham submitted a complaint of



police migonduct to the Philadelphia Police Departmahéging thahis moneyhad not been
returned to himandthat plaintiff had, in sum, “stolen” his mone\City Defs.” SG { 20.

On October 5, 2011, Graham’s complaint weseived by the Intern@lffairs Division
(“IAD”) of the Philadelphia Police Department. .'BIStatement of Undisputed Materialdtéa
(“Pl.'s SOF”) 1 21.City Defs.” Mem., Ex. G (“IAD Investigation”), at 1. On October 12, 2011,
Lieutenant Michael Craigshead was assigned to investigate Geat@mplaint. IAD
Investigation at 1. As part of the investigation, Lieutenant Craigshead intedviameng
others, Ortiz on April 12, 2012, and June 11, 2012, and plaintiff on May 11, 2012, and June 21,
2012.1d. at 2, 11, 12.

At the conclusion of the IAD investigation, Inspector H. Robert Sngdermined that
the “investigation could neither prove nor disprove” Grahatégations that plaintifhad
confiscated Graham’s money, other than that wplamtiff had recorded oa Property Receipt
and which was returned to Graham by the Police Departnekrdt 15. However, Inspector
Snyder also detenined that the investigatiaevealed several departmental violatiansluding
the factthat plaintiff “was deliberately untriaful” during the investigatiomvith respect to
suspected narcotics and otleerdencehat plaintiff allegedly recovered during the Graham stop
but did not document, in violation of departmental proceducksat 15, 18.

ThelAD investigation reportvas sent to the Police Board of Inquiry (“PBI”), which held
a hearing on July 23, 2013City Defs.’ Mem, Ex. H (“PBI Hr'g”) at 1. After the hearing, at

which Ortizand othersestified,the PBI foundplaintiff guilty of four departmental violations

! Both parties state that the PBI hearing was heldubyn27, 2013. City Defs.” SOF { 23; Pl.'s 5 23.
However, the hearing report states that it occurred July 23, 2017. PBI Hr'g at 1.
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arising from the 1AD investigatighand recommended that plaintiff be dismis3e@amsey
approved the recommendation on July 30, 20d3.

On August 6, 2013, plaintiff was suspended from the Philadelmhiee®epartmentor
thirty days “with the intent to dismissCity Defs.” SOF § 27. Plaintiff was dismissed from the
Philadelphia Police Department on September 2, 2013. City Defs.’ Nkgu1.(“Arbitration
Decision”)at 2. Through his uniompjaintiff filed agrievance and participated irbération
proceedings City Defs.” SCF | B. After arbitration hearings on May 23, 2014, and June 26,
2014, at which Ortizestified,plaintiff's grievance was denied on August 28, 2014, and his
dismissal was upheldd. § 31.

[11.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY

OnNovember 7, 2013, laintiff filed the original Complaint in this case (Document No.
1), allegingthat the City, Ramsey, and five Jane and John Bigesminated against him based
on his race and retaliated against him for opposing this discrimination in violaflatheo¥11,
the First and Fourteenth Amendments pursuant to 8 1983, the Pennsylvania Human Relations
Act (“PHRA”), and the Pennsylvania Constitution. On October 10, 2014, the City and Ramsey
filed a partial Motion to Dismiss (Document No. 12), which was granted in part and denied in
part by Order dated February 27, 2015.

On February 6, 2015, plaintiff filed a complaint against Ortiz and Wurlin Graham in the

Court of Common Pleas in Philadelphia County, allegimgy alia, that Ortiz retaliad against

% The four violations were: (1) “Conduct Unbecomihging or attempting to deceive regarding a
material fact during the course of any Departmental investigati@n;Conduct Unbecoming—Abuse of
authority; (3) “DisobedienceFailure to follow Departmental procedures for the handling of evidence,
personal effects, and all other property taken into custody [with certaeptexts];”and (4)
“DisobedienceFailure to folow Departmental procedure for the handling of narcotics, money,
explosives, firearms, hazardous materials or forensic evideR&.Hr g at 1.

® The “Penalty Range” for the first violation was “Dismissal,” for the secoddaurth violations “5 Day
Suspension to Dismissal,” and for the third violation “Reprimand to 5 Days®&ispeg PBI Hrg at 1.
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him by falsely testifying at his arbitration hearing because plaintdfregported wrongdoing by
Ortiz. That caseCivil Action No. 15-1073, was removed to this Court on March 3, 2015, and
consolidated with the above-captiormse by Ordedated May 28, 2015.

By Order dated May 28, 2015, the Court granted plaintiff leave to file an amended
complaint and the Amended Complaint was deemed dideafMay 4, 2015 (Document No. 27).
The Amended Complaint named the City, Ramsey, Captain BraBuitt Lee, Baldini, Ortiz
and two John or Jane Does as defendants and contained six counts: retaliation and wrongful
discharge in violation of Title VIl and the PHRA, violation of the First Amendmedttgual
Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment pursuant to 8 1983, and violations of the
Pennsylvania Whistleblower Law and other state law claims. The defenidthes ¥lotion to
Dismiss (Document N8, filed June 15, 2015); that Motion was granted in part and denied in
part by Order dated Decdrar 17, 2015.

By Order dated\pril 13, 2016, the Court denied plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend
the Complaint to the extent thalaintiff's proposed amendmentxluded Captain Bard, and
granted plaintiff's Motion in all other respects. The Secamstnded Complaint was deemed
filed as of April 8, 2016 (Document No. 46), and contains two counts: (Count One) violation of
the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against
the City, Ramsey, Lee, Baldini, and two John and Jane Doe defendants and (Cgunt Two
violations of the Pennsylvania Whistleblower Law against the City, Ranse)iz.

Presently before the Court are Ortiz’'s Motion for Summary Judgment (DociNue6o,
filed Apr. 7, 2017) and the City Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (Document No. 61,
filed Apr. 7, 2017). Plaintiff filed Responses to the Motions for Summary Judgment on April 28,

2017 (Documents Nos. 62 and 63). The Motions are thus ripe for review.



V. APPLICABLE LAW
The Court will gant summary judgment if “the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter éiddw
R. Civ. P. 56(a)see Celotex Corp. v. Catret77 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986). A fact isteral
when it “might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing l&mderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A dispute is genuine “if the evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving gattl. The Court’s role at the
summary judgment stage “is not . . . to weigh the evidence and determine the trutmafténe
but to determine whether . . . there is sufficient evidence favoring the nonmovingopajyify
to return a verdict for thaarty.” Id. at 249. In making this determination, “the court is required
to examine the evidence of record in the light most favorable to the party opposmgrsum
judgment, and resolve all reasonable inferences in that party’s fabslikin v. Pder, 476
F.3d 180, 184 (3d Cir. 2007). The party opposing summary judgment must identify evidence
that supports each element on which it has the burden of gEeddtex Corp.477 U.S. at 322.
V. DISCUSSION
The Court will address each Count of the Second Amended Complaint in turn.

A. Equal Protectioi€Claim Pursuant t§ 1983

CountOneof the SecondAmended Complaint allegeisat the City Defendantgolated
the Equal Protection Clause when they disciplinechptemore harshly than white officers who
had committed similar or more serious offenses. The City Defendants’ MotiSummary
Judgmentaises two arguments with respect to plaintiff's Equal Protection claim: (1) that
plaintiff failed to produce evehce of similarly situatepgersonghat were treated differently than

plaintiff and (2) with respect to the City’s liability und®1983 thatthere is no evidence of a



municipal policy or custom that caused the alleged constitutional violation. Thefi&dur
addressethe City Defendants’ argument that plaintiff has failed to produce evidenamitargy
situated persons who were treated differently.

1. Evidence of Similarly Situated Persons Treated Differently

To succeed o 8 198Fqual Protection claim, a plaintiff must prottke existence of
purposeful discrimination.’'Shuman ex rel. Shertzer v. Penn Manor Sch.,i22 F.3d 141,
151 (3d Cir. 2005)see alsdrex. Dep’'tof Cnty. Affairs v. Burdine450 U.S. 248, 256 (1981).
To do sq a plaintiff must show that he “received different treatment from that receivetthéry
individuals [who were] similarly situatedlShuman422 F.3d at 151, arttlat“the different
treatment was improperly motivated by discriminatorpunishmentor exercising a
constitutional right Zappan v. Pa. Bd. of Prob. & Pargl252 Fed. App’'x 211, 219 (3d Cir.
2005) (citingAndrews v. City of Phila895 F.2d 1469, 1478 (3d Cir. 1990)).

“Persons are similarly situated under the Equal Protection €\alusn they are alike ‘in
all relevant aspects.3tartzell v. City of Phila533 F.3d 183, 203 (3d Cir. 2008) (quoting
Nordlinger v. Hahns05 U.S. 1, 10 (1992)). Plaintiff’'s burden to find similarly situated
comparators “does not mean [the comparators] mustengically situated.” Chan v. Cty. of
Lancaster Civil Action No. 10ev-3424, 2013 WL 2412168, at *17 (E.D. Pa. June 4, 2013).
Determining whether comparators are similarly situated “requires atooumtlertake a fact
intensive inquiry on a cad®ycase basis rather than in a mechanistic and inflexible manner.”
Monaco v. Am. Gen. Assurance (359 F.3d 296, 305 (3d Cir. 2004)n disciplinary cases or
in the context of personnel actions, . . . the relevant factors often include a showihg tiat t
employees dealt with the same supervisor, were subject to the sadeedtaand had engaged

in similar conduct without such differentiating or mitigating as would distinguishdbeduct



or the employer’s treatment of themHouston v. Easton Area Sch. Dis355 Fed. App’x 651,
654 (3d Cir. 2009) (comparing cases in ¢batext of Title VII race discrimination).

In this case, plaintiff claims that the City Defendants treated him more harshly in
disciplinary contexts than similarly situated white officers because hei@mA#kmerican. The
City Defendantseek summarypdgment with respect to this issue on the groundtkieatiwo
potential comparators” identified in ttgecond Amended Complaint consist afgeneralization
of alleged conduct, a last name and nothing more,” and that plaintiff has not met his burden t
produce record evidence of any individual that is alike in all relevant respéitg.Defs.’

Mem. at5-6. In his Response, plaintiff points to evidence in the form of deposition testimony
regarding‘similarly-placed Caucasian officers that transgreskstipline in far worse
circumstances in far worse than Plaintiff but were not terminatetd's Resp. to CityDefs.’

Mot. for Summ. J. (“Pl.’s Resp. to City Defs.”) at 6.

The Court rejects the City Defendants’ argument with respect to this iB&uetiff has
produced evidencdiat at least one white police officer was disciplined less harshly than plaintiff
for a similar offense. Plaintiff testified th@aptain John McCloskey, a white police offioggs
charged with the “same offense” as plairtificonduct unbecoming, Section 1009-10, . . . lying
or attempting to deceive an investigator dutimg cours of departmental investigatibabut
that McCloskey was not terminated for the offenseranthinedemployed by the Philadelphia
Police DepartmentPl.’s Resp.to City Defs, Ex. 3 (“Boyer Dep.”) at 69:1-9, 69:21-70:2, 79:6-
10. Onthis issue, faintiff testified that, according to departmental directives, this offense is a
“fireable offenséthe firsttime it is committed.ld. at69:16-22. In addition, th&Penalty
Range” for this offense, disted in plaintiff's PBIhearing recommendatipis “Dismissal’ PBI

Hrg at 1. With respect to McCloskeygfliendant Ramsey testified that “if [his] memesgrve[d



him] correct,” he suspended him for thirty days and denied him an upcoming pronfeitisn.
Resp. to City Defs., Ex. BRamseyDep.”), at42:24-43:19.

There is evidence thataintiff and a white officer werboth disciplined by Ramsey for
an dfense which carried a recommended penalty of dismissaplandiff was terminategdbut
McCloskey wasnerelysuspended and denied an upcoming promotion. For these raasons,
Court rejects the City Defendant’s argument that plaintiff has failed thupeo“evidence of any
individual that is alike in all relevant respects” and denies the City DafesidMotion for
Summary Judgment with respect to this argument.

2. §1983Claim Against the City

The Court analyzes plaintiff's 8983 claim against the City under the standard of
municipal liability first enunciated iMonell v. New York City Department of Social Services
436 U.S. 658 (1978kee Natale v. Camden Cty. Corr. Facili3i8 F.3d 575, 583 (3d Cir.
2003). “[A] municipality cannot be held liable under § 1983 oespondeat superidheory.”
Monell, 436 U.S. at 691. To demonstrate municipal liability under 8§ 1983, a plaintiff must
demonstrate (1) a constitutional violation by a staterg2) that was caused by a municipal
policy or custom.ld. at 694;see alsdMulholland v. Gov't Cty. of Berk306 F.3d 227, 237 (3d
Cir. 2013).

Paintiff argues that he has demonstrated a custom of differential treatmemtetrto
show a custom for the purposedvidnell, a plaintiff must show that a practice is “so permanent
and weltsettled as to virtually constitute lawNulholland, 706 F.3d at 237. To show custom,
the plaintiff must show “that an official who has the powemtitke policy $ responsible for . . .
the acquiescence in a wskttled custom."Watson v. Abington Twp478 F.3d 144, 155 (3d Cir.

2007). The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit “has hefbtioe



commissioneto be a policymaker for the purposes of § 1B&3ility.” Jacobs v. City of Phila.
No. Civ. A. 03-CV-0950, 2004 WL 2850081, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 10, 20iBt)r(g casep

The City Defendants argue that plaintiff has only “alleged, in a conclussiniofgthat
the City of Philadelphia has a policy or custom of not supervising or training itersfto
prevent a violation of civil rights” and that he has not “identified any policystoen of the
City of Philadelphia that was the moving force behind tleged violations of his civil rights.”
City Defs.” Mem. at 67. However, contrary to the City Defendants’ argument, the Second
Amended Complaint and plaintiff's ilefing articulatetwo possible customs of diffential
treatment based on race: (1) that police officers were subject to diffeseiptidary proceedings
based on their race and (2) “general disparate treatment of minorities.” Seuobhpl.
(“SAC”) 1 45.

The Court begins by addressing the first alleged custmrpractice of usingternal
investigation through IAD and subsequent disciplinary proceedings sadhBd$earingprior
to disciplining and terminating AfricaAmerican officers “to undermine” possible claims of
discrimination and not usirthis process against white o#fics, whoare either not terminated or
are terminated anable to successfully grieve and/or appeal their terminatehnThe Court
concludes that there is sufficiestidence to permit a reasonable inferencetthigtalleged
practicewas weltsettled known by Ramse§,and resulted in plaintiff being disciplinéess
favorablythan similarly situated white officeraVith respect to this custorthere isevidence of
three instances in whichihite officers accused of departmental violations or crimes were not
disciplined usinghe same disciplinary process as plairdiiflwere either not terminated or
were terminated but subsequently got their jobs back. In addition to McClaskigailed

above, faintiff presentecevidence thatwo white officers, Jeffrey and Richard Cujdik, both

* The City Defendants do not dispute that Ramsey is a policymaker for the purpbkesed liability.
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currently employed by the Philadelphia Police Departnveaite accused aferiouscriminal

activity and that Ramsey participated in their discipline, but that, idalasey “believe[d] there
was one thatvas terminated. . . [and] they did get disciple,” “the US Attorney was actually
handling that case, af@amsey]believdd] that’s one the statute ran out on and he coulakn’t
charged.” Ramsey Dep. 47:20-48:18. It is reasonable to infer from this evidenbe ajdik
brothers were subject to a different disciplinary process than plaiRtdfntiff has also

presented evidence that Detective KeRuyherford,a “homicide detective that Ramsey accused
of stealing time from the City by being howerking,” was terminated by Ramsey through
direct action, but “got his job back,” even thoughhlad not yet participated arbitration
proceedings Boyer Dep. 128:2-14, 130:23-132:21.

The Court notes that some of the evidence proviggaaintiff doesnot support an
inference that officers were subject to different disciplinary processed dratheirrace. First,
while there is evidence that a white officer, Raymond Murphy, was arrested fongteali
electricity and not terminate®l.’s Resp. to CytDefs. at 7there is no evidence regarding the
disciplinaly process used in thease. Rather, plaintiff testified that fead in the newspaper
that Murphy was arrested in 2014 “for stealing electricity [through adédglity assistance
program] andwas] not terminated by defendant RamseBoyer Dep. 81:4-82:4. Second,
plaintiff mentions the “predominantly white Thomahiciardello narcotics unit officers &l for
stealing drugs and money.” Pl.’s Resp. to City Defs. at 7-8. Howteeeyvidence with respect
to the discipline of this group of officers does not support plaintiff's argunfeamseytestified
that he fred all of the officers fronthe Liciardello narcotics unibut that, with the exception of
one officer who retired, theyeve all reinstated through thebdration processid. at44:14—

46:22. Ramey further testified that two officers in the grouere AfricanAmerican and the
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remaining officers in the group were iéh Id. Thisevidencedoes not support plaintiff's claim
of different treatment based on radd¢evertheless, as stated above, the plaintiff has produced
evidence from which a reasonable jury could concludethiea¢ was a welbettled municipal
practice, known to Ramsey, of using different disciplinary processes foe pdlicers based on
their race, and that this practice caugkntiff, an AfricanrAmerican,to receive less favorable
discipline than similarly situateathite officers.

The Court next addresses the second alleged custgemeral disparate treatment of
minorities™—andconcludes thatere is insufficient evidence from which to reasonably
concludethatthere is a municipaiustom of “general disparate treatment of minoritieSAC
1 45. Raintiff provides two additiongdieces of evidencef this custom. Firstthata police
officer identified asCorporal PowlawsKireferred to AfrcanAmericanpeople as monkeys and
banana-eating monkeys,” and that Ramsey testified that he did not kRowldwskiwas
terminated, but he “[didn’t believe] he was terminated [but didn’t] know with 100 percent
certainty” Ramsey Dep. 40:12-41:10. Second, that Ramsey “was unable to point to any
investigation . . . into the racist domelights.com scandal that received extersiseq@verge.”
Pl.’s Resp. to City Defat 8. On this issueRamsey testified that he “never read” the website,
was not involved irany way in thdawsuit brought by the Guardian Civic League against the
City of Philadelphia with respect tbe website, and that he did not know whetherofficers
involved in creatig the website were disciplinedd. at 31:10-33:8.

The Court recogizes the serious naturefafling to respond teacism within a police
department However, the evidence provided by pldfrt-that Ramsey believedafficer was
notterminated for using racist slurs and that Ramsey did not participate in the ddsnsbigh

litigation orknow whether officers involved in creatititge websitavere disciplineg-even
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when coupled with the evidence of officer discipline discussed above, is insuffecsmiport
an inference that there was a practice of general dispaatmént of minoritiethatwas so
permanent and weflettled as to have the force of law.

For these reasons, City Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgsgranted with
respecto the alleged custom of “general disparate treatment,” but deniedesgBct to the
alleged custom of using different disciplinary proceedings for policeenffibased on their race.

B. Pennsylvania Whistleblower La@aim

Count Two of the Second Amended Complaint alleges that the City, Ramsey, and Ortiz
violatedthe Pennsylvania Whistleblower Law, 43 Pa. Const. Stat. Ann. 8et42h,. by
retaliating against plaintiff for reporting @' allegedly criminal conductSAC i 51:52.

1. PennsylvanidVhistleblower Law

Under thePennsylvania Whistleblower Law (“Whistlebloweat “Whistleblower Law”)
employers may natischarge, threaten or otherwise discriminate or retaliate against an
employee” with respect to the terms of his or her employimecduse the employee reported in
good faith “an instance of wrongdoing or waste by a public body .43 Pa. Const. Stat. Ann.

§ 1423.

Importantly for the purposes of the pending Motions, a peaieging a Whistleblower
violation must bring a civil actionwiithin 180 days after the occurrence of the alleged violation.”
43 Pa. onst. Stat. Ann. § 1424(aY.hislimit is “mandatory and courts have no discretion to
extend it.” O'Rourke v. PaDep't of Corr, 730 A.2d 1039, 1042 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 19@%ng
Perry v.Tioga Qy., 649 A.2d 186 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1984eealso Jackson v. LeHigh Valley
Physicians Grp.Civil Action No. 08-3043, 2009 WL 229756, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 30, 2009)

(stating that the time limit must be “strictly appliedJhus, courts mst dismis3Vhistleblower
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claimsfiled more than 180 days after takeged violation O'Rourke 730 A.2d at 104Z%ee
also Livingston ex rel. Livingston v. Borough of McKees R&X3 Fed. App’'x 84, 89 (3d Cir.
2007) (upholdinglismissl of any claimaccruing morghan 180 days prior to filing)illela v.
City of Phila, No. CIV. A. 95-1313, 1995 WL 29531&t *4 (E.D. Pa. May 9, 199%jinding
thatthe exhaustion requirement for 8 1983 claims arising from the same event would het toll t
180-day time limi.
2. Discussion

The City Defendants argue thalaintiff's Whistleblower claim is timdarred because
the 180eay time limitbegan to run when plaintiff was terminated on September 2, 20d3,
plaintiff did not allege theonduct underlying the Whistleblower claimtil, at the earliest,
February 6, 2015, in higvil actionagainstOrtiz and Wurlin Graham City Defs.” Mem. at 10.
The City Defendants further argue tkia¢ Whistleblower claim in the Second Amended
Complaint doesiot relate back tthe original Complaint in this case, filed on November 7,
2013, because the conduct underlying the Whistleblower claim was not alleged igitine ori
Complaint. Id. Ortiz argues that each instance of his alleged retaliatmrgtuct—his interview
as part of the IAD investigation, his testimony at plaintiff's PBI hegaan July 17, 2013, and his
testimony at plaintiff's arbitration hearing on May 23, 2014, and June 26, 20dels#red more
than 180 days prior to February 6, 2013itiz Mem. at 4.Ortiz also argues that he had no
knowledge of plaintiff's report of his alleged wrongdoind. at 6.

a. Relation BackProvision of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(c)(1)

The Courtfirst addresses the relation back doctmaised by the Citypefendants and

concludes that plaintiff’§Vhistleblower claindoes notelateback to theoriginal Complainin

this case.Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 1%{9)“[a]Jn amendment to a pleading relates
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back to the date of the original pleading” in three situatidree first situation requires that the
“law that provideste applicable statute of limitations allows relation back.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
15(c)(1)(A). This provision is inapplicable because the Whistleblower Law dogsavade for
relation back.43 P.S. 142&t seq The second situation provides foranendment asserting a
newclaim against the same partiestiie amendment asseaslaim or defense that arose out of
the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out—or attempted to be set the-eriginal
pleading.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(B). The thirdiation permits amendments that “change the
party or the naming of party against whom a claim is asserted, if Rule1)E83)ic satisfied”

and two conditions relating to notice are met. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(C).

In order to determine whethplaintiff's Whistleblower claim relateback to the original
Complaint with respect to the City, Ramsey, or Ortiz, the Court must first deteriatkesthe
claim “arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out—or attempted to be set out—
in the original pleading.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(B). “The underlying question fa Fa{t)
analysis is whether the original complaint adequately notified the deferafathe basis for
liability the plaintiffs would later advance in the amended compfaUnited States ex rel.

Gohil v. Aventis, In¢.Civil Action No. 02-2964, 2017 WL 85375, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 10, 2017)
(citing Glover v. FDIG 698 F.3d 139, 146 (3d Cir. 20)2)Applying this rule requires a ‘search
for a common core of operativecta in the two pleadings.Gordon v. Maxim Healthcare

Servs., InG.Civil Action No. 13-7175, 2014 WL 3438007, at *5 (E.D. Pa. July 15, 2(idng
Glover, 698 F.3d at 145).

Plaintiff does not argue that his Whistleblower claim relates back to the original
Compilaint in this caseHaving reviewed the original Complaint and plaintiff’'s Whistleblower

claim in the Second Amended Complaint, the Court concludes that plaintiff’'s Whistéblow
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claim does not arise out of the conduct “set out . . . in the original pleading” and thus does not
relate back to the original Complairelaintiff’'s Whistleblower claim in his Second Amended
Complaint is premised entirely on his reporting of Ortiz's alleged criminal acti@fC 1 51
54. The original Complairdlleges thathe City and Ramsey and five JarelJohn Does
violated federal and state law by discriminating against him based on hadhoetaliating
against him for opposing race discrimination. Compl. {1 33-34, 51-52, 58 ,60, 67-68, I80-81.
does not allege any facts relating to plaintiff’'s report of Ortiz's allegedral activity. While
plaintiff's Whistleblower claim arises from the general circumstances aliegaé original
Complaint—his disciplinary proceedings and terminatidhe-factforming the basis ahe
Whistleblower claimverenot set out, or even attempted to be set out, inrigenal Complaint.
See Gordon2014 WL 3438007, at *5 (“While this newly alleged conduct also arises from
[plaintiff’'s] employment by [defendangnd its failure to pay her earned wages, it is based on
factually and legally distinct circumstees.”). Thus, plaintiff' $Vhistleblower claimdoes not
satisfy the requirementsd the relation back provisioof Rule 15(c).
b. Timeliness

Next, he Court addresses whetlpdgintiff's Whistleblower claim was timely Plaintiff
argues that his claim was timely becahedirst alleged violations of the Whistleblower Law
against Ortiz within 180 days after his termination became final, whiclgneswas30 days
after the arbitration decision on August 28, 2014. Pl.’s Resp. to Ortiz &t Support of this
argument, plaintiff states that, under Pennsylvania law, “[t]he teribimdate can include actual
termination notice date by an employer but also post-termination prodessesht for example,

the Civil Service Commission to determine when termination becomes fidal¢iting Bailets

® Plaintiff presents the same arguments in his Response to the City DefeMizita for Summary
Judgment.
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v. Pa. Turnpike Comm’n123 A.3d 300, 308 (Pa. 2015%urther, plaintiff argues that “his
actual termination datis an issue of factual dispute,” that he was “bound by compulsory
arbitration,” and that, “the actual harm doctrine requires that an action mnfype/hen ‘the
occurrence of the . . . significant event necessary to make the claim suablguotingMack
Trucks, Inc. v. Bendix-Westinghouse Autio.Brake Co, 372 F.2d 18, 20 (3d Cir. 1966

The Court construes these arguments as an argument that plaintiff'siarbitrat
proceedings tolled the 18fay time limit foreach alleged retaliatory actidy the City, Ramsey
and Ortizand rejects this argumerniirst, while plaintiff may be correct that retaliation or
discrimination during “postermination processesfiaybe actionable under the Whistleblower
Law, the case cited by plaintifBailets does not stand for this proposition or for extending 180-
day limit for a claimbased ometaliatory terminatioon the ground that there were post-
termination proceedings Bailetsdoes not discuss these issues. 123 A. 3d at 301-08.

Secondthe Court rejecplaintiff's arguments that the compulsory nature of arbitration
or the actual harm doctrimequired or permitted him to wait to file sumtl his termination was
upheld in arbitration. Under the language of the Whistleblower Lavallgged retaliatory
actions by the City, Ramsey, and Ortiz, including those during arbitrationegliogs, were

actionable once they occurred. 43 Pa. Const. Stat. Ann. § 14P4dajtiff provides no legal

® To the extent that plaintiff is advancing a “continuing violation th&ahge Court notes that there is no
determinative case law with respecthie appliation of a continuing violatiotheory tothe Pennsylvania
Whistleblower Law.Jacksm, 2009 WL 229756, at *5. However, it seems unlikely that the
Whistleblower Law would permit a continuing violatitreory given the strict nature of the titn@it

and courts’ reluctance toll the time limit See Albright v. City of Phila399 F. Supp. 2d 575, 595 n.27
(E.D. Pa. 2005)vwfhile not deciding whether a continuing violation theayuld toll the time limit,

noting that tecisions of th@ennsylvania Commonwealth Court explicitly deny edplétaiscretion in
extending theeriod.”). Moreover,a continuing violatin theory wouldikely not be applicable in this
case The alleged violations-Ortiz’s alleged retaliatory testimony and Ramsey'’s retaliatory aetions
would each be individually actionable as a violation of the Whistleblba®. Seelivingston 223 Fed.
App’x 84, at *3 n.3 (in 8 1983 First Amendment retaliation context, continuing violdtenry was
inapplicable because “causasaction that can be brought individually expire within the applicable
limitations period”).
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authoity that his Whistleblower claim ariggifrom the alleged retaliatory September 2, 2013,
termination was not an actionable until it was upheld by arbitrattbe case citety plantiff in
support of the actual harm doctriddack Trucksdoes not involvéhe Whistleblower Lavor
otherwise provide support fainis assertion Finally, plaintiff's argumenis inconsistent with
courts’ strict application ahe 180day time limit which includegranting summary judgment
on any alleged acts of retaliation that occurred more than 180 days gherfilong of the
complaint O'Rourke 730 A.2d at 1042, and determining that a plaintiff with both Whistleblower
andrelated federal claims must file the Whistleblower claim before waiting to ekhelated
federal claimsseeVillela, 1995 WL 295318, at4.

Therefore the 180day time limit for thealleged retaliatory actions by tkity, Ramsey,
and Ortiz began to run on thates of the alleged retaliatory action#\s discussed above,
plaintiff first asserted his Whistleblower claim against OrtiZ@bruary 6, 2015. Thusnya
claim basean alleged violationghat occurredefore August 10, 2014 time-barred. While
both the arbitration decision of August 28, 2014, and the 30-day appeal period after which the
arbitration decision became final occurred after August 10, 2bBé&rk ts no evidence of any
action in this matteby the City, Ramsey, or Ortiz afteheir participation irthearbitration
proceedings in May and June of 2014. In short, there is no evidence of actionable conduct by
those defendants within the limitations peridderefore plaintiff’s Whistleblowerclaims are
time-barred.

Forall of these reasonthe Court grants the City Defendants’ Motion for Summary

Judgment with respect to Countvo and grants Ortiz’'s Motion for Summary Judgment.
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VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant Police Officer Angel Ortiz’sodddr Summary
Judgment is granted. Defendants City of Philadelphia, Charles Ramsey, Raaadd &aryn
Baldini’s Motion for Summary Judgment is grantesto the alleged custom ofyéneral
disparate treatmentlleged in Count One of the Second Amended Complainastiothe
Pennsylvania Whistleblower Laglaim alleged irCount Two against defendants the City of
Philadelphia and Charles Ramsey, and is denied in all other respketslains that remain in
this case arthe claims in Count One farolations of the Equal Protection Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendnm pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983 agaidbarlesRamseyRolandLee,
Karyn Baldini, and two John and Jane Does, and the claim in Couragamast the City of
Philadelphia with respect to the alleged custom of using different disciplir@arggrings for
police officers baskon their race.

An appropriate order follows.
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